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PRESS RELEASE  

TUESDAY, JULY 1, 2025 

 

PRESS RELEASE 

 

2:25-cv-11970-MAG-EAS 

ABULWAHAB ELSHAMI, ET AL V. CITY OF MELVINDALE, ET AL 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT – EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN 

HONORABLE MARK A. GOLDSMITH  

 

FEDERAL LAWSUIT FILED MONDAY, JUNE 30, 2025, AGAINST THE CITY OF 

MELVINDALE, DIX AUTO CLINIC, LLC, AND ABBAS KHALIL AOUN, FOR ILLEGAL 

ZONING MORATORIUM, PROPERTY RIGHTS VIOLATIONS, CIVIL CONSPIRACY TO 

BLOCK LAWFUL BUSINESS OPERATIONS, AND VIOLATIONS OF PLAINTIFFS’ 

CONSTITUTIONAL PROPERTY RIGHTS.  

 

The civil rights attorneys at Just Right Law, led by Muneeb M. Ahmad and Syed Hussain Akbar, 

have filed a federal lawsuit on behalf of small business owners Abdulwahab Elshami, Shaif 

Mahyoub Alzaokari, and Dhaifallah Ali Alowmari d/b/a Omari Auto Shop against the City of 

Melvindale, Dix Auto Clinic, LLC, and Abbas Khalil Aoun. 

 

A copy of the Complaint, filed with the United States District Court – Eastern District of Michigan 

on Monday, June 30, 2025, is attached to this press release for further consideration. 

 

This lawsuit responds to the coordinated actions of the City of Melvindale, Dix Auto Clinic, LLC, 

and Abbas Khalil Aoun to strip Plaintiffs of their long-established property rights and block a 

business that has operated lawfully for over 44 years. Plaintiffs seek to hold all Defendants 

accountable and protect their right to fair and lawful treatment under the Constitution. 

 

The Complaint details how the City enforced a legally baseless and selectively applied zoning 

moratorium targeting auto repair shops, pharmacies, and used car sales businesses — an action 

Plaintiffs argue is not only unlawful but also discriminatory and economically harmful. 

 

Key Allegations Include: 

 

• A long-term zoning moratorium enacted and enforced without lawful authority, used to 

target specific businesses. 

 

• Collusion between City officials and Dix Auto Clinic to deprive Plaintiffs of their vested 

property rights through misrepresentation and denial of a Certificate of Occupancy. 
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• Over $480,000 in economic damages, including lost business income, property 

devaluation, and interference with valid leases. 

 

 

“This case is about more than one auto repair shop. It’s about whether cities 

can weaponize zoning to reward some businesses and destroy others 

without due process. We’re fighting back — not only for our clients, but for 

every Melvindale business owner who’s been pushed aside by political 

favoritism,” said Muneeb M. Ahmad, Managing Partner at Just Right Law. 

 

This lawsuit is part of a broader effort to expose and eliminate the abuse of power and selective 

enforcement practiced by the City of Melvindale and its allies. It stands as a beacon of hope for 

property owners and small business operators who have been silenced, ignored, or pushed aside 

by unlawful zoning tactics. This case gives voice to those fighting for fairness, due process, and 

the right to use their property without political interference or discrimination. 

The firm is actively exploring whether additional property owners may have suffered similar harm 

under the City's zoning moratorium and invites them to come forward. 

 

We respectfully request the press to share this information with the public. 

We ask anyone who has been subjected to discriminatory zoning practices, denied property rights, 

or has information related to the actions of the City of Melvindale, Dix Auto Clinic, LLC, or Abbas 

Khalil Aoun to contact us. 

 

 

 JUST RIGHT LAW 

Muneeb M. Ahmad, Esq. 

Managing Partner 

Muneeb@justrightlaw.com 

(248) 519-2313 

 

 
 

http://www.justrightlaw.com/
mailto:Muneeb@justrightlaw.com
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  

EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN SOUTHERN DIVISION 

 

ABDULWAHAB ELSHAMI, 

An Individual, and 

SHAIF MAHYOUB ALZAOKARI, 

An Individual 

DHAIFALLAH ALI ALOWMARI,  

An Individual d/b/a OMARI AUTO SHOP 

Plaintiffs,

   

vs.        

  

CITY OF MELVINDALE, 

A Michigan Municipal Corporation, 

DIX AUTO CLINIC, LLC 

A Michigan Limited Liability Company; and 

ABBAS KHALIL AOUN 

An Individual 

Defendant. 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 

MUNEEB M. AHMAD (P70391)  

SYED HUSSAIN AKBAR (P67967) 

AHMAD & AKBAR LAW, PLLC 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs  

811 N. Main Street, Suite 106 

Royal Oak, MI 48067-1825 

Tel. (248) 519-2313  

Fax: (248) 519-2399 

_______________________________________________________________________ 

 

PLAINTIFFS’ COMPLAINT 

_______________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

Case No: 

Honorable: 

Magistrate: 

RECORDS PRESERVATION 

NOTICE 

You, Defendants, are hereby 

notified to preserve during the 

pendency of this action all records 

and documents in all forms and 

formats (digital, electronic, film, 

magnetic, optical, print, etc.) that 

are relevant or may lead to 

relevant information, and to 

notify your employees, agents and 

contractors that they are required 

to take appropriate action to do 

the same. 
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There is no other civil action arising out of the same transaction 

or occurrence as alleged in this Complaint pending before this 

Court, nor has any such action been previously filed and 

dismissed or transferred after having been assigned to a judge, 

nor do I know of any other civil action between these parties, 

arising out of the same transaction or occurrence as alleged in 

this Complaint that is either pending or was previously filed and 

dismissed, transferred, or otherwise disposed of. 

 

       ______________________________________________ 

                  Muneeb M. Ahmad, Esq. 

 

NOW COME Plaintiffs, ABDULWAHAB ELSHAMI, an Individual, and SHAIF 

MAHYOUB ALZAOKARI, an Individual, and DHAIFALLAH ALI ALOWMARI, an 

Individual d/b/a OMARI AUTO SHOP, by and through Plaintiffs’ undersigned counsel, 

AHMAD & AKBAR LAW, PLLC, d/b/a/ JUST RIGHT LAW, and for their Complaint 

against Defendant CITY OF MELVINDALE, a Michigan Municipal Corporation, DIX 

AUTO CLINIC, LLC, a Michigan Limited Liability Company; and ABBAS KHALIL 

AOUN, an Individual, hereinafter state as follows: 

PARTIES 

1. At all times relevant herein, Plaintiff ABDULWAHAB ELSHAMI (hereinafter 

referred to as “Elshami”) was, and currently is an individual residing in Wayne 

County, Michigan. 

2. At all times relevant herein, Plaintiff SHAIF MAHYOUB ALZAOKARI 

(hereinafter referred to as “Alzaokari”) was, and currently is an individual residing 

in Wayne County, Michigan.  

3. At all times relevant herein, Plaintiff DHAIFALLAH ALI ALOWMARI, was, and 
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currently is an individual residing in Wayne County, Michigan, doing business as 

OMARI AUTO SHOP (hereinafter referred to as “Omari”). 

4. Upon information and belief, at all times relevant herein, Defendant CITY OF 

MELVINDALE (hereinafter referred to as the “City” or the “City of Melvindale”) is 

a Michigan municipal corporation with its principal offices located at 3100 

Oakwood Boulevard, Melvindale, Michigan 48122. 

5. Upon information and belief, at all times relevant herein, Defendant DIX AUTO 

CLINIC, LLC, is a Michigan Limited Liability Company conducting business in the 

City of Melvindale, Michigan.  

6. Upon information and belief, at all times relevant herein, Defendant ABBAS 

KHALIL AOUN (hereinafter referred to as “Aoun”) was, and currently is an 

individual residing, and/or conducting business in Wayne County, Michigan as the 

owner or meaning member of Defendant Dix Auto Clinic, LLC (hereinafter 

collectively referred to as “Dix Auto Clinic”). 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

7. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to:  

 

a. 28 U.S.C. § 1331, as this action arises under the Constitution and laws of the 

United States, specifically the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United 

States Constitution and 42 U.S.C. § 1983; 

 

b. 28 U.S.C. § 1343(a)(3), as this action seeks to redress the deprivation of rights 

secured by the Constitution of the United States and federal law; 

 

c. 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and the Equal Protection Clause as enumerated through the 14th 

Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, and Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 
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1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e, et seq; and 

 

d. 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a), as this Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the state 

law claims, which are so related to the federal claims that they form part of the 

same case or controversy. 

 

8. Venue is proper in the Eastern District of Michigan pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) 

because Defendants are located within this judicial district and the events giving rise 

to this action occurred within this district. 

INTRODUCTION 

9. Plaintiff Elshami, Plaintiff Alzaokari (hereinafter referred to as “Plaintiff Owners”) 

are the owners of real property located at 18809 Dix Road, Melvindale, Michigan 

48122 (hereinafter referred to as the “Commercial Property”). 

10. Plaintiff Owners’ Commercial Property has continuously been used as an auto repair 

shop for over 44 years, without any interruption, building modifications or changes 

that would affect its status as a legal nonconforming use under the City of 

Melvindale Code Section 24-503 (hereinafter referred to as the “Legally Vested 

Property Right”); 

11. Plaintiff Owners and Plaintiff Omari (hereinafter collectively referred to as the 

“Plaintiffs”) bring forth this instant action against Defendant City of Melvindale, 

Defendant Dix Auto Clinic (hereinafter collectively referred to as “Defendants”) for 

violations of Plaintiffs’ federally protected civil rights as enumerated under the Fifth 

and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

12. Among other things, upon information and belief, these violations were based on 
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unlawful conduct, including, but not limited to:  

a. Defendant City’s arbitrary and capricious change in the practical effect of its 

Zoning Ordinance; 

 

b. Defendant City’s arbitrary and capricious enactment of an unlawful and 

indefinite moratorium in violation of the Michigan’s Zoning Enabling Act 

(MZEA); 

 

c. Defendant City’s arbitrary and capricious application of its own zoning rules 

and its unlawful moratorium in an arbitrary and selective manner; 

 

d. Defendants, working hand in hand with each other to divest Plaintiff Owners 

and their Commercial Property of its Legally Vested Property Right; 

 

e. Defendant City’s arbitrary and capricious denial of Plaintiffs continued use of 

their Commercial Property pursuant to its Legally Vested Property Right; 

 

f. Defendant Dix Auto Clinic making knowingly false representations to 

Defendant City regarding the ownership of the Commercial Property with the 

intent that Defendant City would rely on them; 

 

g. Defendant City’s arbitrary and capricious reliance on Defendant Dix Auto 

Clinic’s false representations to Defendant City regarding the ownership of 

the Commercial Property, despite knowing – or, at a minimum, having reason 

to know – based on Defendant City’s property ownership records that 

Defendant Dix Auto Clinic’s representations were false; 

 

h. Defendant Dix Auto Clinic making knowingly false representations to 

Defendant City regarding the future of the Commercial Property and its 

Legally Vested Property Right, with the intent that Defendant City would rely 

on them; 

 

i. Defendant City’s arbitrary and capricious reliance on Defendant Dix Auto 

Clinic’s false representations regarding the future of the Commercial Property 

and its Legally Vested Property Right, despite knowing – or, at a minimum, 

having reason to know – based on Defendant City’s property ownership 

records that Defendant Dix Auto Clinic’s representations were false; 

 

j. Defendant Dix Auto Clinic making knowingly false representations to 

Defendant City regarding Plaintiff Owners’ alleged intent to stop using the 
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Commercial Property consistent with its Legally Vested Property Right, with 

the intent that Defendant City would rely on them. 

 

k. Defendant City arbitrary and capricious reliance on Defendant Dix Auto 

Clinic’s false representations regarding Plaintiff Owners’ alleged intent to 

stop using the Commercial Property consistent with its Legally Vested 

Property Right, despite knowing – or, at a minimum, having reason to know 

– based on Plaintiffs representations to the contrary that Defendant Dix Auto 

Clinic’s representations were false; 

 

l. Defendants, working hand in hand with each other to enforce Defendant 

City’s unlawful moratorium in an arbitrary manner against Plaintiffs, while 

allowing Defendants Dix Auto Clinic and possibly other similar businesses to 

operate in contravention of it. 

 

m. Defendant City’s arbitrary and capricious enforcement of its unlawful 

moratorium in an arbitrary manner against Plaintiffs, while allowing 

Defendants Dix Auto Clinic and possibly other similar businesses to operate 

in contravention of it. 

 

n. Defendants, working hand in hand with each other to have Defendant City 

deny Plaintiffs’ application for a C of O in an arbitrary and capricious manner. 

 

o. Defendants, working hand in hand with each other to not inspect Plaintiff 

Owners’ Commercial Property in further of the Defendant City’s arbitrary and 

capricious denial of Plaintiffs’ C of O Application; 

 

p. Defendant City’s arbitrary and capricious denial of Plaintiffs’ C of O 

application after payment of all associated application costs and fees by 

Plaintiffs and acceptance of those costs and fees by Defendant City. 

 

q. Defendant Dix Auto Clinic making knowingly false representations to 

Defendant City regarding the Commercial Property’s habitability for fitness, 

and alleged defects to the Commercial Property, including but not limited to 

its roof, with the intent that Defendant City would rely on them; 

 

r. Defendant City arbitrary and capricious reliance on Defendant Dix Auto 

Clinic’s false representations regarding the Commercial Property’s 

habitability for fitness, and alleged defects to the Commercial Property, 

including but not limited to its roof, despite knowing – or, at a minimum, 

having reason to know – that Defendant City previously inspected the 

Case 2:25-cv-11970-MAG-EAS   ECF No. 1, PageID.6   Filed 06/30/25   Page 6 of 60



    
 

06.30.25 Plaintiffs’ Complaint, p. 7  

Commercial Property in 2020 and never raised any concerns about the same; 

 

s. Defendant City, by and through its Mayor, Nicole M. Shkira, making 

knowingly false statements during a public City Council meeting, stating in 

substance that the Commercial Property had not been issued a C of O because 

it was in extreme disrepair and not up to code, despite knowing – or, at a 

minimum, having reason to know – that the City had inspected the 

Commercial Property and approved its use in 2020 and never raised any 

concerns about the same; 

 

t. Defendant City arbitrarily and capriciously refusing to inspect Plaintiff 

Owners’ Commercial Property, prior to its denial of Plaintiffs’ C of O 

Application and despite payment of all associated inspection costs and fees by 

Plaintiffs and acceptance of those costs and fees by Defendant City;  

 

u. Defendants, working hand in hand with each other to delay any responses to 

Plaintiffs’ FOIA Request, which has the practical effect of unlawfully denying 

Plaintiffs’ FOIA Request; 

 

v. Defendant City’s arbitrary and capricious delay in the production of public 

information which has the practical effect of unlawfully denying of Plaintiffs 

Freedom of Information Act request for information (hereinafter referred to 

as “FOIA Request”). 

 

w. Defendant City’s arbitrary and capricious refusal to provide any meaningful 

and/or substantive responsive information to Plaintiffs’ requests inquiring into 

the rational basis for Defendant City’s actions. 

 

13. Defendants’ acts above, as well as other actions, or lack thereof (hereinafter collectively 

referred to as the “Unlawful Conduct”) intentionally violated Plaintiffs’ constitutional 

rights, including but not limited to, their rights under the Takings Clause and the Due 

Process and Equal Protection Clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment. 

14. Despite the Legally Vested Property Right, the Defendant City’s Unlawful Conduct is 

an unconstitutional “taking” and has effectively destroyed Plaintiff Owner’s Legally 

Vested Property Rights in the Commercial Property without notice, recourse, or just 
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compensation. 

15. Upon information and belief, there is a process by which the zoning of a parcel can be 

changed, and Defendant City has not engaged in this process. 

16. Instead, it has engaged in a legally flawed ad hoc process that strips Plaintiff Owners of 

their Legally Vested Property Right in their Commercial Property without any legal 

recourse. 

17. Defendants’ Unlawful Conduct has effectively destroyed Plaintiff Owners’ Legally 

Vested Property Right in the Commercial Property and interfered with valid 

contractual relationships, causing substantial damages including, but not limited to:  

a. Economic damages attributable to Plaintiff Owners in the form of lost rental 

income at the rate of $3,000 per month, which is estimated to date to be Twelve 

Thousand ($12,000.00 Dollars), which economic damages continue to increase 

every day; 

 

b. Economic damages attributable to Plaintiff Owners in the form payment of taxes 

and property maintenance, which is estimated to date to be One Thousand Two 

Hundred ($1,200.00) Dollars, which economic damages continue to increase 

every day; 

 

c. Diminution of the Commercial Property’s value attributable to Plaintiff Owners; 

 

d. Interference with a valid lease agreement between Plaintiffs 

 

e. Economic damages attributable to Plaintiff Omari in the form of lost wages and 

lost profits estimated to date to be Forty-Four Thousand ($44,000.00) Dollars, 

which economic damages continue to increase every day; and  

 

f. Unnecessary expenditure of costs and attorney fees attributable to Plaintiffs in 

excess of Thirty Thousand ($30,000.00) Dollars, which continue to increase 

which economic damages continue to increase every day. 

 

18. Through this action, Plaintiffs seeks declaratory and injunctive relief and damages for 
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violations of their constitutional rights, as well as relief under the Michigan Zoning 

Enabling Act (MCL 125.3208) for Defendant City’s Unlawful Conduct and interference 

with Plaintiff Owners’ Legally Vested Property Right in the Commercial Property. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

19. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations in all preceding 

paragraphs of this Complaint. 

CITY OF MELVINDALE’S ZONING AND NONCONFORMING USE ORDINANCE 

20. The Michigan Zoning Enabling Act (MZEA), MCL 125.3101, et seq governs zoning 

within municipal governments such as Defendant City. 

21. MCL 125.3202(1), entitled Zoning ordinance; determination by local legislative body; 

amendments or supplements; notice of proposed rezoning, provides in relevant part as 

follows: 

(1) The legislative body of a local unit of government may 

provide by ordinance for the manner in which the regulations and 

boundaries of districts or zones shall be determined and enforced 

or amended or supplemented. Amendments or supplements to 

the zoning ordinance shall be adopted in the same manner as 

provided under this act for the adoption of the original ordinance. 

 

(2) Except as provided in subsection (3), the zoning commission 

shall give a notice of a proposed rezoning in the same manner as 

required under section 103. 

 

. . .  

 

(4) An amendment to a zoning ordinance by a city or village is 

subject to a protest petition under section 403. 

 

. . .  
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22. Michigan law entitles pre-existing lawful uses to continue. To this end, MCL 

125.3208(1) provides that any “use… of the land [that] is lawful at the time of 

enactment of a zoning ordinance… may be continued although the use does not 

conform. 

23. Further, MCL 125.3208(3), provides in relevant part that “[t]he legislative body may 

acquire, by purchase, condemnation, or otherwise, private property or an interest in 

private property for the removal of nonconforming uses and structures. The legislative 

body may provide that the cost and expense of acquiring private property may be paid 

from general funds or assessed to a special district in accordance with the applicable 

statutory provisions relating to the creation and operation of special assessment districts 

for public improvements in local units of government. Property acquired under this 

subsection by a city or village shall not be used for public housing. 

24. MCL 125.3208(4) further states that “[t]he elimination of the nonconforming uses and 

structures in a zoning district is declared to be for a public purpose and for a public use. 

The legislative body may institute proceedings for condemnation of nonconforming 

uses and structures under 1911 PA 149, MCL 213.21 to 213.25. 

25. As a well-settled rule, a temporary cessation of a nonconforming use or the temporary 

vacancy of buildings used for a nonconforming use does not in itself operate to effect 

abandonment of the nonconforming use, where the circumstances, conditions, and 

statements of the owner are consistent with or evidence of an intention not to abandon 

the nonconforming use. See Adams v. Kalamazoo Ice & Fuel Co. (1928) 245 Mich 261; 
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See also Civic Asso. of Dearborn v. Horowitz (1947) 318 Mich 333; Rudnik v. Mayers, 

387 Mich. 379 (1972); and Livonia Hotel, LLC v. City of Livonia, 259 Mich. App. 116 

(2003). 

26. Upon information and belief, Defendant City of Melvindale was incorporated as a 

village in 1922 and then as a city by approximately 1933. 

27. Upon information and belief, prior to August 19, 1981, Defendant City of Melvindale, 

enacted Ordinance Number 442, which established the current Zoning Ordinance 

otherwise referred to as Chapter 24. 

28. Upon information and belief, the City’s Zoning Ordinance, specifically Code Section 

24-503, defines how pre-existing (nonconforming) uses in Defendant City are to be 

handled. 

29. Upon information and belief, Code Section 24-503, which is Defendant City’s 

Ordinance on Nonconforming Uses of Structures, provides in relevant part: 

If lawful use, involving individual structures with an assessed 

value of $500.00 or more of structure and premises in 

combination, exists on August 19, 1981, that would not be 

allowed in the district under the terms of this chapter, the lawful 

use may be continued so long as it remains otherwise lawful, 

subject to the following provisions: 

. . .  

(2) If any such nonconforming use of a structure ceases for any 

reason for a period of more than six months, such use shall 

conform to the regulations specified by this chapter for the 

district in which such use is located. 

 

Ex. 1 – Sec 24-503 Non-Confirming Use Ordinance (Emphasis Added). 

 

30. Plaintiff Owners’ Commercial Property is located within Defendant City. 
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31. Upon information and belief, at all times relevant herein, the Commercial Property was 

zoned and still maintains zoning within the City as C-2 General Commercial use. 

32. However, upon information and belief, since at least as early as August 19, 1981, the 

Commercial Property has maintained its Legally Vested Property Right as an auto repair 

shop. 

33. Upon information and belief, property records confirm that between December 12, 

1987, to August 18, 1999 a Mr. Maurice and Mrs. Holly Chevalier were the owner of 

the Commercial Property, which at all times during that period operated as an auto 

repair shop consistent with its continuous nonconforming use. Ex. 2 – Property History. 

34. On or about August 18, 1999, Plaintiff Owners’ Father, a Mr. Mayoub Elshami, became 

the owner of the Commercial Property, which again, since that period, operated as an 

auto repair shop consistent with its continuous nonconforming use. Ex. 2 – Property 

History. 

35. Subsequently, sometime in or about 2005, Plaintiff Owners purchased the Commercial 

Property and became the owners. Ex. 2 – Property History. 

36. As Defendants are aware, the Commercial Property’s sole and continuous use has been 

as an auto repair shop, consistent with its Legally Vested Property Right.  

37. Plaintiff Owners have continuously leased the Commercial Property to either Defendant 

Aoun or his family since their ownership so as to operate it consistently with its Legally 

Vested Property Right as an auto repair shop. 

38. To that end, on or about January 1, 2020, Plaintiffs entered into a lease with Defendant 
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Dix Auto Clinic, with it being executed by Defendant Aoun, as the LLC’s sole member, 

and by Defendant Aoun, individually. Ex. 3 – Dix Auto Clinic Lease. 

39. The Dix Auto Clinic Lease was set to expire at midnight on December 31, 2024. Ex. 3 

– Dix Auto Clinic Lease. 

CITY OF MELVINDALE’S ILLEGAL MORATORIUM 

40. Upon information and belief, on or about June 17, 2020, Defendant City of Melvindale 

made a motion on what appeared to be an interim zoning ordinance which imposed a 

moratorium (hereinafter referred to as the “Moratorium”) on new auto repair shops 

within the City. 

41. Upon information and belief, pursuant to available online records for Defendant City as 

it pertained to the Council Meeting of the Defendant City of Melvindale, which was 

held on Wednesday June 17, 2020, Resolution 20-06-131, which passed by a 4-1 vote 

provided: 

 
 

Ex. 4 – June 17, 2020, City Council Meeting Resolution 20-06-131.  

42. Subsequently, on or about August 19, 2020, Defendant City adopted the Moratorium 

by way of Resolution 20-08-101. Ex. 5 – August 19, 2020, Moratorium Resolution 

20-08-101. 

43. Upon information and belief, Defendant City of Melvindale’s alleged new Master Plan 

was adopted by the City Council on or about November 17, 2021, by way of Resolution 
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21-11-253. Ex. 6 – Master Plan PDF & Council Resolution.  

44. However, upon information and belief, on January 18, 2023, through Resolution 23-01-

011, the Defendant City extended its moratorium, enacted pursuant to Defendant City 

of Melvindale’s Resolution 20-06-131 (hereinafter referred collectively referred to as 

the “Moratorium”). Ex. 7 – January 18, 2023, City Council Meeting Resolution 23-01-

011. 

45. Importantly, neither the resolutions for the Moratorium, nor the Moratorium itself, 

defined the term “new” or “auto repair shops,” provided any substantive justification 

for its continuation, or established a definite end date. 

46. The MZEA contains no general authorization for long-term moratoria.  

47. Under MCL 125.3404(4), an interim zoning ordinance (for adopting the first zoning 

ordinance) “shall be limited to 1 year from the effective date and to not more than 2 

years of renewal thereafter by resolution. 

48. Beyond that, there is no statutory power to extend or suspend zoning by mere resolution. 

49. Michigan’s “legislative equivalency” doctrine provides that an ordinance, once enacted, 

may only be amended, suspended, or repealed by another ordinance—not by a 

resolution or other lesser act. See Rollingwood Homeowners Corp. v. City of Flint, 386 

Mich. 258, 264 (1971) (“[A]n ordinance may not be amended or repealed by a mere 

resolution.”). 

50. As such, Defendant City’s actions in connection with its Moratorium violate Michigan’s 

legislative equivalency doctrine, which prohibits modifying or suspending an ordinance 
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by resolution. See Rollingwood Homeowners Corp. at 264. (ordinances may not be 

amended or repealed by resolution). 

DEFENDANTS’ CONSPIRE TO DIVEST PLAINTIFF OWNERS’ COMMERCIAL PROPERTY OF 

ITS LEGALLY VESTED PROPERTY RIGHT AS AN AUTO REPAIR SHOP 

 

51. In anticipation of the expiration of its lease, Defendant Dix Auto Clinic approached 

Plaintiff Owners and offered to purchase the Commercial Property from Plaintiff 

Owners for a verbal cash offer of approximately Four Hundred Thousand ($400,00.00) 

Dollars. 

52. Plaintiff Owners, not wanting to sell the Commercial Property, rejected the offer by 

Defendant Dix Auto Clinic. 

53. Upon information and belief, Defendant Dix Auto Clinic then sought to relocate its 

business operations to 19125 Dix Road, Melvindale, MI 48122 (hereinafter referred to 

as “19125 Dix” or “New Dix Auto Clinic Location”). 

54. Upon information and belief, at all times relevant herein, 19125 Dix was zoned, and 

still maintains zoning within the C-2 General Commercial Use, which is the same as 

Plaintiff Owners’ Commercial Property at issue herein.  

55. Upon information and belief, 19125 Dix had previously remained vacant for at least 6 

months, but more likely upwards of approximately 3 years, prior to Defendant Dix Auto 

Clinic seeking to use the site to operate an auto repair shop. 

56. To this end, upon information and belief, Defendant Dix Auto Clinic in response to 

Plaintiff Owners’ refusal to sell them the Commercial Property, and with the spiteful 
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intent to cut out any competition from Plaintiff Owners’ Commercial Property, sought 

to divest Plaintiff Owners’ Legally Vested Property Right in the Commercial Property 

forever. 

57. To that end, Defendant Dix Auto Clinic: 

a. Intentionally advised Defendant City that Defendant Dix Auto Clinic was 

looking to move their business operations to another location within 

Defendant City because Plaintiff Owners’ Commercial Property was not in 

good repair.  

 

b. Intentionally made false representations about Plaintiff Owners and the 

Commercial Property, wherein they stated that the Commercial Property was 

not fit for its use and had alleged defects, including but not limited to a leaking 

roof. 

 

c. Intentionally made false representations to Defendant City that Plaintiff 

Owners’ wanted to relinquish their Legally Vested Property Right. 

 

58. Upon information and belief, despite knowing – or, at a minimum, having reason to 

know – that Defendant Dix Auto Clinic representations were false, Defendant City 

worked hand in hand with Defendant Dix Auto Clinic so as to allow Defendant Dix 

Auto Clinic to move their operations to 19125 Dix as the expense of Plaintiff Owners. 

59. Upon information and belief, disregarding their Moratorium and in an effort to 

discriminate against Plaintiff Owners’ in favor of Defendant Dix Auto Clinic, 

Defendants devised a calculated plan (hereinafter referred to as “Defendants’ Plan”) 

whereby they mutually agreed, among other things, that:  

a. Dix Auto Clinic Lease would end its lease as scheduled on December 31, 

2024;  

 

b. Dix Auto Clinic would then continue renting the Commercial Property on a 
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month to month basis for an additional 6 months;  

 

c. During this 6 month period, Defendant Dix Auto Clinic would move its 

operations to the 19125 Dix property, while phasing out performance of auto 

repairs at the Commercial Property; 

 

d. Defendant City would not grant Plaintiff Owners or any prospective tenant a 

C of O to use the Commercial Property pursuant to its Legally Vested Property 

Right as an auto repair shop; 

 

e. Defendant City would not provide or delay providing any information to 

Plaintiffs as it pertained to Defendant City’s approval of Defendant Dix Auto 

Clinic’s use of 19125 Dix property as an auto repair shop; 

 

f. Defendant City would not provide or delay providing any historical or 

property records to Plaintiffs as it pertained to 19125 Dix; and 

 

g. Defendant City would not provide or delay providing any information to 

Plaintiffs about the legality of their actions in connection with the enactment 

of zoning ordinances or the Moratorium. 

 

60. Upon information and belief, the intent of Defendants’ Plan was to allow Defendant 

City to arbitrarily and capriciously claim that Plaintiff Owners’ Legally Vested Property 

Right in the Commercial Property expired under the language of Code Section 24-503, 

which is Defendant City’s Ordinance on Nonconforming Uses of Structures. 

61. On or about December 31, 2024, the Dix Auto Clinic Lease expired. Ex. 3 – Dix Auto 

Clinic Lease. 

62. Subsequently, upon information and belief, consistent with and in furtherance of 

Defendants’ Plan, Defendant Dix Auto Clinic continued to operate their auto repair 

business under the Dix Auto Clinic Lease terms on a month to month basis.  

63. Upon information and belief, consistent with and in furtherance of Defendants’ Plan, 
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Defendant Dix Auto Clinic began winding down its business operations at the 

Commercial Property, while it continued using it as an auto repair shop through the end 

of March 2025. 

64. In anticipation of Defendant Dix Auto Clinic’s anticipated departure and vacancy of the 

Commercial Property, Plaintiff Owners entered into discussion with Plaintiff Omari to 

lease the Commercial Property for its continued use as an auto repair shop, consistent 

with its Legally Vested Property Right, sometime in March of 2025. 

65. In March 2025, and in anticipation of operating an auto repair shop at the Commercial 

Property, Plaintiff Omari quit his job as an auto mechanic. 

66. However shortly thereafter on or about April 9, 2025, upon information and belief, 

consistent with and in furtherance of Defendants’ Plan, Plaintiff Omari and Plaintiff 

Owners, by and through their Attorney, Afan Bapacker, were advised by, Brad Burns, 

Defendant City’s Chief Building Official (hereinafter referred to as “Burns” or the 

“Chief Building Official”), that Plaintiffs would be unable to continue to use the 

Commercial Property pursuant to its Legally Vested Property Right as an auto repair 

shop, and directed Plaintiffs to Defendant City’s Attorney, a Mr. Lawrence Coogan 

(hereinafter referred to as “L. Coogan” or “Defendant City’s Attorney”) for further 

information. 

67. To that end, on or about April 9, 2025, Plaintiff Owners’ Attorney, Afan Bapacker, 

contacted and left a telephone message for Defendant City’s Attorney to obtain 

additional information in this regard. Ex. 8 – April 10, 2025, Email to L. Coogan 
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68. On April 10, 2025, Plaintiff Owners’ Attorney, Afan Bapacker, followed up with 

Defendant City’s Attorney regarding his voicemail message from the prior day by 

dispatching an email requesting a conversation to discuss the matter. Ex. 8 – April 10, 

2025, Email to L. Coogan. 

69. Upon information and belief, upon information and belief, consistent with and in 

furtherance of Defendants’ Plan, Defendant City’s Attorney failed to respond to this 

email correspondence in writing. 

70. That same day, upon information and belief, consistent with and in furtherance of 

Defendants’ Plan, on or about April 10, 2025, Defendant Dix Auto Clinic, vacated the 

Commercial Property, having paid rent through March 2025.  

71. Having not heard back from Defendant City’s Attorney, in response to his April 10th 

Email, on or about April 16, 2025, Plaintiff Owners’ Attorney, Afan Bapacker, issued 

a FOIA request to Defendant City of Melvindale. Ex. 9 – April 16, 2025, FOIA Request. 

72. The FOIA request specifically requested that for the time period beginning January 1, 

2020, through March 31, 2025, and relative to the property located at 19125 Dix Road, 

Melvindale, MI 48122 (i.e., the New Dix Auto Clinic Location), Defendant City 

provide the following information: 

a. Permit applications submitted for the property, 

 

b. Zoning applications or requests, 

 

c. Any related approvals or denials, 

 

d. All communications, including all email exchanges, 
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e. Police reports, if any, and  

 

f. Minutes or recordings of any City Counsel or any other city meetings relating to 

the application. 

 

Ex. 9 – April 16, 2025, FOIA Request. 

 

THE CITY OF MELVINDALE’S INCONSISTENT APPLICATION OF  

ITS ILLEGAL MORATORIUM 

 

73. On or about April 18, 2025, Plaintiffs entered into a new five-year lease agreement so 

as to allow Plaintiff Omari to operate the Commercial Property consistent with its 

Legally Vested Property Right as an auto repair shop. Ex. 10 – 2025 Omari Lease. 

74. The new lease agreement provided for a term from May 1, 2025, through April 30, 

2030, at a monthly rental rate of $3,000. Ex. 10 – 2025 Omari Lease. 

75. Still not having received a written response back from Defendant City’s Attorney in in 

connection with his April 10, 2025 email message, that same day, on April 18, 2025, 

Plaintiff Owners’ Attorney, Afan Bapacker, dispatched another correspondence to 

Defendant City’s Attorney, again requesting the basis for the denial of Plaintiffs’ 

application to operate the Commercial Property consistent with its Legally Vested 

Property Right as an auto repair shop, and also included a copy of the new lease to 

further support Plaintiff Owners’ intent not to abandon the Legally Vested Property 

Right and to continue the historical use of the Commercial Property.  Ex. 11 – April 18, 

2025, Letter to L. Coogan. 

76. Upon information and belief, on or about April 21, 2025, Plaintiff Omari submitted a 
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Business License Application to Defendant City of Melvindale to operate the 

Commercial Property consistent with its Legally Vested Property Right as an auto repair 

shop and paid the associated application fee.  

77. On April 24, 2025, upon information and belief, consistent with and in furtherance of 

Defendants’ Plan, without even conducting any inspection of the Commercial Property, 

Defendant City issued a denial of Plaintiff Omari’s new tenant’s Business License 

Application. Ex. 12 – April 24, 2025, Denial Letter. 

78. Despite the Commercial Property 's Legally Vested Property Right as an auto repair 

shop, Defendant City's denial was purportedly based on the unlawful Moratorium. 

79. The denial occurred despite the fact that there had been no six-month gap in the 

Commercial Property 's Legally Vested Property Right as an auto repair shop, and no 

intentional abandonment of such use - both of which would be required for termination 

of nonconforming use rights under Michigan Law. 

80. Upon information and belief, during the same period that the City denied Plaintiff's 

application, and despite its zoning as C-2 General Commercial use, upon information 

and belief, consistent with and in furtherance of Defendants’ Plan, Defendant City 

approved Defendant Dix Auto Clinic’s request to operate its auto repair business at the 

19125 Dix property, demonstrating selective and discriminatory enforcement of its 

zoning ordinances and the Moratorium. 

81. Upon information and belief, consistent with and in furtherance of Defendants’ Plan, 

during this time frame, a representative from Defendant City’s Counsel again reiterated 
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that Plaintiff Omari that he would not be able to use Plaintiff Owners’ Property for an 

auto repair facility and offered to find him a new location outside the City. 

82. Plaintiff Omari rejected this offer. 

83. On April 25, 2025, upon information and belief, consistent with and in furtherance of 

Defendants’ Plan, Defendant City finally responded to Plaintiff Owners’ Attorney’s 

FOIA request by stating that “In response to that request, the City of Melvindale is 

hereby issuing a notice extending in time for not more than ten ( 10) business days the 

period which it may respond to the request as provided by the Freedom of Information 

Act.” Ex. 13 – April 25, 2025, City FOIA Response Letter. 

84. Subsequently on April 30, 2025, Defendant City’s Attorney finally responded to 

Plaintiff Owners’ Attorney, Afan Bapacker’s inquiry regarding the Commercial 

Property and the status of its Legally Vested Property Right. Ex. 14 – April 30, 2025, 

L. Coogan Response Letter. 

85. upon information and belief, consistent with and in furtherance of Defendants’ Plan, 

among other things Defendant City, by and through its Attorney stated that “. . . the city 

adopted Resolution 20-06-131 establishing a moratorium on ‘used car sales shops and 

auto repair shops’ based on the updated City Master Plan. The moratorium was 

extended in January 2023 by resolution 23-01-011.” Ex. 14 – April 30, 2025, L. Coogan 

Response Letter. 

86. upon information and belief, consistent with and in furtherance of Defendants’ Plan, the 

letter went on to state that “When the business at 18809 Dix Rd. vacated the property 
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on or about January 6, 2025, its status as a legal non-conforming use subsequently 

ended. Therefore, when 19125 Dix opened after 18809 Dix was vacated, there was no 

net increase in auto-related businesses.” Ex. 14 – April 30, 2025, L. Coogan Response 

Letter. 

87. However, this was clearly false, as Defendant Dix Auto Clinic did not vacate the 

Commercial Property on January 6, 2025, but rather vacated it on or about April 10, 

2025. 

88. On May 2, 2025, the Yemeni American Chamber of Commerce, dispatched 

correspondence on behalf of Plaintiffs, to Defendant City’s Council requesting 

assistance in concerns about: 

a. The City’s apparent moratorium on new auto-related facilities (Resolution 23-

01-011), while allowing a similar business (our client’s prior tenant) to operate 

at 19125 Dix Road.  

 

b. The legal nonconforming use protections under Melvindale Code Sec. 24-503 as 

it related to Plaintiffs’ Commercial Property. 

 

Ex. 15 – May 2, 2025, Letter to City Council. 

89.  Further the Yemeni American Chamber of Commerce’s correspondence specifically 

requested: 

a. Clarification on the City’s position on the Commercial Property’s occupancy 

status; and  

 

b. That the City Council address the inconsistency in applying the Moratorium, 

given the approval of a comparable use at 19125 Dix Road.  

 

Ex. 15 – May 2, 2025, Letter to City Council. 
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90. With no response forthcoming from Defendant City or its City Counsel, on May 15, 

2025, Plaintiffs’ Undersigned Counsel, dispatched correspondence to Defendant City 

and its Attorney, which specifically stated: “We respectfully request the City to clarify 

its position on my Clients’ Property’s occupancy status and to explain and address the 

inconsistency in applying the moratorium against my Clients and their Property, given 

the approval of a comparable use at 19125 Dix Road.”  Ex. 16 – May 15, 2025, Letter 

to City.  

91. This request again having fallen on deaf ears, Plaintiffs and their Undersigned Counsel 

appeared at Defendant City’s Council Meeting that was held on Wednesday, May 21, 

2025, to address the issue. 

92. upon information and belief, consistent with and in furtherance of Defendants’ Plan, 

conveniently neither Defendant’s City Attorney, Mr. Coogan, nor the Defendant City’s 

Council President appeared for this meeting to address any questions about the issue. 

93. Upon information and belief, consistent with and in furtherance of Defendants’ Plan,  

in response to questions during that City Council meeting by Plaintiffs’ Undersigned 

Counsel as to why a C of O for the Commercial Property was denied, the Mayor, Nicole 

M. Shkira, stated words to the effect that the reason why the Commercial Property was 

not issued a C of O is because the Commercial Property was in extreme disrepair and 

not up to code. 

94. Plaintiffs respectfully stated that this was incorrect. 

95. Then, after realizing that this new purported justification appeared to be a clear 
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departure from the reasons given by Defendant City’s Attorney, the Mayor then 

attempted to backtrack by relying on the use restriction on the Commercial Property by 

virtue of the City’s Moratorium on new auto repair shops. 

96. When further questioned about the legality of Defendant City’s Moratorium, upon 

information and belief, consistent with and in furtherance of Defendants’ Plan, the 

Mayor and City Council told Plaintiffs’ Undersigned Counsel that his time was up and 

refused to address any further questions. 

97. Upon information and belief, consistent with and in furtherance of Defendants’ Plan, to 

date, Defendant City has failed to provide any legitimate governmental interest 

justifying its unconstitutional interference with Commercial Property’s Legally Vested 

Property Right or its selective enforcement of its unlawful Moratorium. 

98. Defendant City's responses and communications to Plaintiffs’ multiple attempts to 

obtain information for the City’s Unlawful Conduct, upon information and belief, 

consistent with and in furtherance of Defendants’ Plan, have been evasive and non-

substantive, failing to provide any legitimate basis for denying Property’s Legally 

Vested Property Right, or its selective enforcement of its Moratorium. 

DAMAGES 

99. As a threshold matter, Defendant City's now five year Moratorium is unconstitutional 

as: 

a. it was enacted in violation of Michigan law, mainly the MZEA; 

 

b. it was enacted in a legally flawed ad hoc process that strips Plaintiffs of their 
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property rights without any legal recourse;  

 

c. as it is vague and ambiguous and fails to properly define essential terms; and  

 

d. it far exceeds any reasonable temporary restriction and amounts to a 

permanent prohibition on the Property’s Legally Vested Property Right. 

 

100. Upon information and belief, throughout the pendency of its Moratorium period, 

Defendant City has failed to:  

a. Conduct any studies or analysis justifying the need for the Moratorium; 

 

b. Establish specific criteria for evaluating applications from existing 

nonconforming uses; 

 

c. Provide any timeline or conditions for lifting the Moratorium;  

 

d. Properly notify property owners of the potential loss of property rights; or 

 

e. Offer any compensation for the deprivation of property rights. 

 

101. Defendant City's Unlawful Conduct has created an unfair competitive disadvantage 

and demonstrates a lack of rational basis for Defendant City's actions. 

102. "A prior nonconforming use is a vested right to continue the lawful use of real estate 

in the manner it was used prior to the adoption of a zoning ordinance." A zoning 

ordinance cannot operate to oust the property owner of his vested right even though the 

ordinance is reasonable. "An ordinance requiring immediate cessation of a 

nonconforming use may be held to be unconstitutional because it brings about a 

deprivation of property rights out of proportion to the public benefit obtained...." 

[Emphasis Added, Citations omitted.] Gackler Land Co, Inc v Yankee Springs Twp, 427 
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Mich 562, 573-574 (1986).1 

103. Defendant City's Unlawful Conduct has effectively rendered Plaintiff Owners’ 

Commercial Property unusable for its historical and legally protected purpose, 

constituting a de facto taking without just compensation. 

104.  Defendant City's Unlawful Conduct is particularly egregious given that:  

a. The Commercial Property 's use as an auto repair facility predates current zoning 

restrictions; 

 

b. The use has been continuous and uninterrupted for approximately Forty-Four 

years; 

 

c. No changes or modifications have been made to the Commercial Property that 

would terminate its Legally Vested Property Right; and 

 

d. The gap between tenants was minimal and did not constitute an intentional 

abandonment under applicable law. 

 

105. Defendant City's Unlawful Conduct and selective enforcement of the Moratorium 

demonstrates a pattern of arbitrary and capricious decision-making that violates 

Plaintiffs’ constitutionally protected rights and Michigan law. 

106. As a direct result of Defendant City's Unlawful Conduct, Plaintiff Owners continue 

to suffer ongoing damages, including the inability to generate rental income from a 

property that has operated continuously as an auto repair facility for approximately 

Forty-Four years. 

 
1 Plaintiffs remind this Honorable Court that Defendant City is relying on a “resolution” to enact a 

“moratorium” and not an actual and properly enacted zoning ordinance, which requires a much more in 

depth and equitable process. 
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107. Defendants’ Unlawful Conduct has:  

a. Created significant economic hardship for Plaintiff Omari; 

 

b. Created significant economic hardship for Plaintiff Owners, as the 

Commercial Property remains vacant and unable to generate income, while 

Plaintiff Owners continue to incur property taxes, insurance costs, and 

maintenance expenses; and  

 

c. Disrupted a valid contractual relationship and prevented the Commercial 

Property from being used for its intended and legally protected purpose, 

causing immediate and ongoing financial harm to Plaintiffs. 

 

108. Despite multiple attempts by Plaintiffs to resolve this matter amicably and 

demonstrate the Commercial Property's Legally Vested Property Right, Defendants 

have persisted in its unlawful interference with Plaintiffs’ constitutionally protected 

rights. 

109. Defendants’ Unlawful Conduct has effectively destroyed Plaintiff Owners’ 

Legally Vested Property Right in the Commercial Property and interfered with valid 

contractual relationships, causing substantial damages in excess of Four Hundred 

and Eighty Thousand ($480,000) Dollars. 

RELIEF REQUESTED 

110. By way of this instant action, Plaintiffs respectfully requests that this Honorable 

Court to grant the following relief: 

a. Declare that Defendant City's actions in denying Plaintiff Omari’s C of O and 

enforcing the Moratorium, and action in connection with against Plaintiffs 

violate: 

 

i. The Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, MCL 125.3101, et seq.  
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ii. The Takings Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the United States 

Constitution; 

 

iii. The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United 

States Constitution; 

 

iv. The Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the 

United States Constitution; and 

 

b. Issue preliminary and permanent injunctive relief: 

 

i. Enjoining Defendant City from enforcing the Moratorium against 

Plaintiffs; 

 

ii. Requiring Defendant City to immediately process and issue Plaintiff 

Omari a C of O; 

 

iii. Enjoining Defendant City from interfering with Plaintiff Owners’ 

Legally Vested Property Right as an auto repair shop; and 

 

iv. Requiring the City to permit Plaintiff Omari to operate an auto repair 

business at the Commercial Property; 

 

c. Award compensatory damages against Defendants, jointly and severally, in 

favor of Plaintiffs in an amount exceeding $480,000, including, but not 

limited to: 

 

i. Economic damages in favor of Plaintiff Owners in the form of lost 

rental income at the rate of $3,000 per month, which is estimated to 

date to be Twelve Thousand ($12,000.00 Dollars), which economic 

damages continue to increase every day; 

 

ii. Economic damages in favor of Plaintiff Owners in the form payment 

of taxes and property maintenance, which is estimated to date to be 

One Thousand Two Hundred ($1,200.00) Dollars, which economic 

damages continue to increase every day; 

 

iii. Economic damages in favor of Plaintiff Owners for the diminution 

of the Commercial Property’s value; 

 

iv. Economic damages in favor of Plaintiff Owners and Plaintiff Omari 
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for interference with a valid lease agreement between Plaintiffs 

 

v. Economic damages in favor of Plaintiff Omari in the form of lost 

wages and lost profits estimated to date to be Forty-Four Thousand 

($44,000.00) Dollars, which economic damages continue to increase 

every day; and  

 

vi. Unnecessary expenditure of costs and attorney fees attributable to 

Plaintiffs in excess of Thirty Thousand ($30,000.00) Dollars, which 

continue to increase which economic damages continue to increase 

every day. 

 

d. Award Plaintiff reasonable attorneys' fees and costs pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 

1988; 

 

e. Award Plaintiff pre-judgment and post-judgment interest as provided by law; 

and 

 

f. Grant such other relief as this Court deems just and proper. 

 

COUNT I  

VIOLATION OF THE MICHIGAN ZONING ENABLING ACT  

 

111. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations in all preceding 

paragraphs of this Complaint. 

112. MCL 125.3202(1), entitled Zoning ordinance; determination by local legislative 

body; amendments or supplements; notice of proposed rezoning, provides in relevant 

part as follows: 

(1) The legislative body of a local unit of government may 

provide by ordinance for the manner in which the regulations and 

boundaries of districts or zones shall be determined and enforced 

or amended or supplemented. Amendments or supplements to 

the zoning ordinance shall be adopted in the same manner as 

provided under this act for the adoption of the original ordinance. 
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(2) Except as provided in subsection (3), the zoning commission 

shall give a notice of a proposed rezoning in the same manner as 

required under section 103. 

 

. . .  

 

(4) An amendment to a zoning ordinance by a city or village is 

subject to a protest petition under section 403. 

 

. . .  

 

113. The MZEA contains no general authorization for long-term moratoria.  

114. Under MCL 125.3404(4), an interim zoning ordinance (for adopting the first zoning 

ordinance) “shall be limited to 1 year from the effective date and to not more than 2 

years of renewal thereafter by resolution. 

115. Beyond that, there is no statutory power to extend or suspend zoning by mere 

resolution. 

116. Michigan’s “legislative equivalency” doctrine provides that an ordinance, once 

enacted, may only be amended, suspended, or repealed by another ordinance—not by a 

resolution or other lesser act. See Rollingwood Homeowners Corp. v. City of Flint, 386 

Mich. 258, 264 (1971) (“[A]n ordinance may not be amended or repealed by a mere 

resolution.”). 

117. Upon information and belief, Defendant City of Melvindale was incorporated as a 

village in 1922 and then as a city by approximately 1933. 

118. Upon information and belief, on or about August 19, 1981, Defendant City of 

Melvindale, enacted Ordinance Number 442, which established the current Zoning 
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Ordinance otherwise referred to as Chapter 24. 

119. Upon information and belief, prior to August 19, 1981, the Commercial Property has 

been operating as an auto repair shop.  

120. Upon information and belief, the City’s Zoning Ordinance, specifically Code 

Section 24-503, defines how pre-existing (nonconforming) uses in Defendant City are 

to be handled. 

121. Upon information and belief, Code Section 24-503, which is Defendant City’s 

Ordinance on Nonconforming Uses of Structures, provides in relevant part: 

If lawful use, involving individual structures with an assessed value 

of $500.00 or more of structure and premises in combination, exists 

on August 19, 1981, that would not be allowed in the district under 

the terms of this chapter, the lawful use may be continued so long 

as it remains otherwise lawful, subject to the following provisions: 

. . .  

(2) If any such nonconforming use of a structure ceases for any 

reason for a period of more than six months, such use shall conform 

to the regulations specified by this chapter for the district in which 

such use is located. 

 

Ex. 1 – Code Section 24-503 (Emphasis Added). 

 

122. Upon information and belief, on or about June 17, 2020, Defendant City of 

Melvindale passed Resolution 20-06-131, which imposed the Moratorium on new auto 

repair shops within the City. 

123. Upon information and belief, pursuant to available online records for Defendant City 

as it pertained to the Council Meeting of the Defendant City of Melvindale, which was 

held on Wednesday June 17, 2020, Resolution 20-06-131, which passed by a 4-1 vote 
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provided: 

 
 

Ex. 4 – June 17, 2020, City Council Meeting Resolution.  

124. Upon information and belief, Defendant City of Melvindale’s alleged new Master 

Plan was adopted by the City Council on or about November 17, 2021. Ex. 6 – Master 

Plan PDF & Council Resolution.  

125. However, upon information and belief, on January 18, 2023, through Resolution 23-

01-011, the Defendant City extended its moratorium, enacted pursuant to Defendant 

City of Melvindale’s Resolution 20-06-131 (hereinafter referred collectively referred to 

as the “Moratorium”). Ex. 7 – January 18, 2023, City Council Meeting Resolution 23-

01-011. 

126. Importantly, neither the resolutions for the Moratorium, nor the Moratorium itself, 

defined the term “new” or “auto repair shops,” provided any substantive justification 

for its continuation, or established a definite end date.  

127. Upon information and belief, there is a process by which the zoning of a parcel can 

be changed, and Defendant City has not engaged in this process. 

128. Instead, it has engaged in a legally flawed ad hoc process that strips Plaintiff Owners 

of their Legally Vested Property Right in their Commercial Property without any legal 

recourse. 

129. Defendant City’s Moratorium was passed unlawfully and has been maintained and 
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enforced in violation of the MZEA. 

130. As such, Defendant City’s actions in connection with its Moratorium violate 

Michigan’s legislative equivalency doctrine, which prohibits modifying or suspending 

an ordinance by resolution. See Rollingwood Homeowners Corp. at 264. (ordinances 

may not be amended or repealed by resolution). 

131. Defendants’ Unlawful Conduct has effectively destroyed Plaintiff Owners’ 

Legally Vested Property Right in the Commercial Property and interfered with valid 

contractual relationships. 

132. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ Unlawful Conduct and 

unconstitutional actions, Plaintiffs have suffered and continue incur substantial 

damages including, but not limited to: 

a. Economic damages in favor of Plaintiff Owners in the form of lost rental 

income at the rate of $3,000 per month, which is estimated to date to be 

Twelve Thousand ($12,000.00 Dollars), which economic damages 

continue to increase every day; 

 

b. Economic damages in favor of Plaintiff Owners in the form payment of 

taxes and property maintenance, which is estimated to date to be One 

Thousand Two Hundred ($1,200.00) Dollars, which economic damages 

continue to increase every day; 

 

c. Economic damages in favor of Plaintiff Owners for the diminution of the 

Commercial Property’s value; 

 

d. Economic damages in favor of Plaintiff Owners and Plaintiff Omari for 

interference with a valid lease agreement between Plaintiffs 

 

e. Economic damages in favor of Plaintiff Omari in the form of lost wages 

and lost profits estimated to date to be Forty-Four Thousand ($44,000.00) 

Dollars, which economic damages continue to increase every day; and  
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f. Unnecessary expenditure of costs and attorney fees attributable to 

Plaintiffs in excess of Thirty Thousand ($30,000.00) Dollars, which 

continue to increase which economic damages continue to increase every 

day. 

 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request this Honorable Court to enter the 

relief requested above or in the alternative enter a judgment against Defendants, jointly and 

severally, in the amount consistent with the damages sustained, declaratory and injunctive 

relief, plus costs and attorneys’ fees wrongfully incurred to bring this action, in addition to 

any other damages, including punitive damages as provided by the applicable law. 

COUNT II 

VIOLATION OF THE TAKINGS CLAUSE OF THE FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH 

AMENDMENTS (42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

 

133. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations in all preceding 

paragraphs of this Complaint. 

134. The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution, made applicable to the 

states through the Fourteenth Amendment, provides that private property shall not be 

taken for public use without just compensation. 

135. Plaintiffs have a protected property interest in the Commercial Property and its 

continued use as an auto repair shop, which has operated continuously as a legal 

nonconforming use for approximately Forty-Four years. 

136. MCL 125.3202(1), authorizes a local unit of government to determine zones and 

amend a zoning ordinance provided notice is given and it is subject to protest petition. 

137. As set forth above, the MZEA contains no general authorization for long-term 
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moratoria, but rather authorizes temporary interim zoning. 

138. Beyond that, there is no statutory power to extend or suspend zoning by mere 

resolution. 

139. Michigan’s “legislative equivalency” doctrine provides that an ordinance, once 

enacted, may only be amended, suspended, or repealed by another ordinance—not by a 

resolution or other lesser act. See Rollingwood Homeowners Corp. v. City of Flint, 386 

Mich. 258, 264 (1971) (“[A]n ordinance may not be amended or repealed by a mere 

resolution.”). 

140. Upon information and belief, prior to August 19, 1981, and at all times relevant 

herein, the Commercial Property has always operated as an auto repair shop, thereby 

subjecting it to a Legally Vested Property Right as a pre-existing (nonconforming) use. 

141. Upon information and belief, Code Section 24-503, which is Defendant City’s 

Ordinance on Nonconforming Uses of Structures, provides in relevant part: 

If lawful use, involving individual structures with an assessed value 

of $500.00 or more of structure and premises in combination, exists 

on August 19, 1981, that would not be allowed in the district under 

the terms of this chapter, the lawful use may be continued so long 

as it remains otherwise lawful, subject to the following provisions: 

. . .  

(2) If any such nonconforming use of a structure ceases for any 

reason for a period of more than six months, such use shall conform 

to the regulations specified by this chapter for the district in which 

such use is located. 

 

Ex. 1 – Sec 24-503 Non-Confirming Use Ordinance (Emphasis Added). 

 

142. Upon information and belief, Defendant City has imposed and maintained a 
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Moratorium on new auto repair shops within the City since about June 17, 2020. 

143. Defendant City’s Moratorium was passed unlawfully and has been maintained and 

enforced in violation of the MZEA. 

144. Importantly, neither the resolutions for the Moratorium, nor the Moratorium itself, 

defined the term “new” or “auto repair shops,” provided any substantive justification 

for its continuation, or established a definite end date. 

145. Michigan law entitles pre-existing lawful uses to continue. MCL 125.3208(1) 

provides that any “use… of the land [that] is lawful at the time of enactment of a zoning 

ordinance… may be continued although the use does not conform. 

146. Further, MCL 125.3208(3), provides in relevant part that “[t]he legislative body may 

acquire, by purchase, condemnation, or otherwise, private property or an interest in 

private property for the removal of nonconforming uses and structures. The legislative 

body may provide that the cost and expense of acquiring private property may be paid 

from general funds or assessed to a special district in accordance with the applicable 

statutory provisions relating to the creation and operation of special assessment districts 

for public improvements in local units of government. Property acquired under this 

subsection by a city or village shall not be used for public housing. 

147. To this end, MCL 125.3208(4) states that “[t]he elimination of the nonconforming 

uses and structures in a zoning district is declared to be for a public purpose and for a 

public use. The legislative body may institute proceedings for condemnation of 

nonconforming uses and structures under 1911 PA 149, MCL 213.21 to 213.25. 
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148. As a well-settled rule a temporary cessation of a nonconforming use or the temporary 

vacancy of buildings used for a nonconforming use does not in itself operate to effect 

abandonment of the nonconforming use, where the circumstances, conditions, and 

statements of the owner are consistent with or evidence of an intention not to abandon 

the nonconforming use. See Adams v. Kalamazoo Ice & Fuel Co. (1928) 245 Mich 261; 

See also Civic Asso. of Dearborn v. Horowitz (1947) 318 Mich 333; Rudnik v. Mayers, 

387 Mich. 379 (1972); and Livonia Hotel, LLC v. City of Livonia, 259 Mich. App. 116 

(2003). 

149. From a threshold standpoint, Defendant City’s Ordinance on Nonconforming Uses 

of Structures on its face is void and unconstitutional as it fails to take into consideration 

circumstances, conditions, and statements of the owner which are consistent with or 

evidence an intention not to abandon the nonconforming use. 

150. Defendant Dix Auto Clinic, vacated the Commercial Property on or about April 10, 

2025, having paid rent through March 2025.  

151. As early as March 2025, Plaintiff Owners entered into discussion with Plaintiff 

Omari to lease the Commercial Property for its continued use as an auto repair shop, 

consistent with its Legally Vested Property Right. 

152. One day prior to Defendant Dix Auto Clinic vacating the Commercial Property, 

Plaintiffs communicated their intention not to abandon the nonconforming use by 

seeking a C of O by and through their C of O Application.  

153. This intent not to abandon the nonconforming is further amplified and confirmed by 
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Defendant City’s Chief Building Official who advised Plaintiff Owners, by and through 

their Attorney, Afan Bapacker, that Plaintiffs would be unable to continue to use the 

Commercial Property pursuant to its Legally Vested Property Right as an auto repair 

shop, and directed Plaintiffs to Defendant City’s Attorney. 

154. The City's Unlawful Conduct in denying Plaintiffs’ C of O application and their right 

to use the Commercial Property consistent with its Legally Vested Property Right as an 

auto repair shop by and through the enforcement of an improperly enacted Moratorium 

have effectively deprived Plaintiff of all economically viable use of the Commercial 

Property for its historical and legally protected purpose. 

155. It is shocking that Defendant City would essentially rob law abiding, tax paying land 

owners of their use without going through the proper process and giving them, at a 

minimum, notice of the proposed change and the right to object to the change. 

156. The City's Unlawful Conduct constitutes a regulatory taking of Plaintiffs and the 

Commercial Property’s Vested Rights without just compensation by:  

a. Destroying Plaintiff's reasonable investment-backed expectations in the 

Commercial Property 's continued use; 

 

b. Preventing the Commercial Property from generating rental income; 

 

c. Substantially diminishing the Commercial Property's market value; and 

 

d. Interfering with Plaintiffs valid contractual relationships. 

 

157. The City has failed to provide any compensation for the taking of Plaintiff's Legally 

Vested Property Rights. 
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158. Defendant City's Unlawful Conduct violates the Takings Clause of the Fifth 

Amendment to the United States Constitution, made applicable to the states through 

the Fourteenth Amendment. 

159. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ Unlawful Conduct and 

unconstitutional actions, Plaintiffs have suffered and continue incur substantial 

damages including, but not limited to: 

a. Economic damages in favor of Plaintiff Owners in the form of lost rental 

income at the rate of $3,000 per month, which is estimated to date to be 

Twelve Thousand ($12,000.00 Dollars), which economic damages 

continue to increase every day; 

 

b. Economic damages in favor of Plaintiff Owners in the form payment of 

taxes and property maintenance, which is estimated to date to be One 

Thousand Two Hundred ($1,200.00) Dollars, which economic damages 

continue to increase every day; 

 

c. Economic damages in favor of Plaintiff Owners for the diminution of the 

Commercial Property’s value; 

 

d. Economic damages in favor of Plaintiff Owners and Plaintiff Omari for 

interference with a valid lease agreement between Plaintiffs 

 

e. Economic damages in favor of Plaintiff Omari in the form of lost wages 

and lost profits estimated to date to be Forty-Four Thousand ($44,000.00) 

Dollars, which economic damages continue to increase every day; and  

 

f. Unnecessary expenditure of costs and attorney fees attributable to 

Plaintiffs in excess of Thirty Thousand ($30,000.00) Dollars, which 

continue to increase which economic damages continue to increase every 

day. 

 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request this Honorable Court to enter the 

relief requested above or in the alternative enter a judgment against Defendants, jointly and 
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severally, in the amount consistent with the damages sustained, declaratory and injunctive 

relief, plus costs and attorneys’ fees wrongfully incurred to bring this action, in addition to 

any other damages, including punitive damages as provided by the applicable law. 

COUNT III  

VIOLATION OF SUBSTANTIVE DUE PROCESS (42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

 

160. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations in all preceding 

paragraphs of this Complaint. 

161. The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment protects against arbitrary and 

capricious government action that deprives individuals of their property rights. 

162. “To prove municipal liability under §1983, a plaintiff must demonstrate a 

constitutional violation at the hands of an agent or employee of the municipality.” Fox 

v. Desoto, 489 F.3d 227 (6th Cir. 2007). Municipal defendants may be sued under §1983 

for their own constitutional or illegal policies. Id. 

163. As stated by the Supreme Court, 

“[l]ocal governing bodies (and local officials sued in their 

official capacities) can. . . be sued directly under §1983 for 

monetary. . . relief in those situations where, as here, the action 

that is alleged to be unconstitutional implements or executes a 

policy statement, ordinance, regulation, or decision officially 

adopted or promulgated by those whose edicts or acts may fairly 

be said to represent official policy.  In addition, local 

governments, like every other §1983 “person,” may be sued for 

constitutional deprivations visited pursuant to governmental 

“custom” even though such custom has not received formal 

approval through the government’s official decision-making 

channels.”  

 

Monell v. Dep’t of Soc Servs. Of City of N.Y., 436 U.S. 658, 659 (1978). 
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164. “When suing a municipality, such as the City, for constitutional violations under 

§1983, a plaintiff must prove that the deprivation occurred pursuant to a municipal 

‘policy or custom.’ A single decision can constitute a policy, if that decision is made by 

an official who ‘possesses final authority to establish municipal policy with respect to 

the action ordered,’ which means that his decisions are ‘final and unreviewable and are 

not constrained by the official policies of superior officials.’” Flagg v. City of Detroit, 

715 F.3d 165, 174-175 (6th Cir. 2013) (citations omitted.) 

165. A “final decision maker” is one who has “final authority to establish municipal 

policy with respect to the action ordered.”  Flagg at 175.  

166. A final decision maker is one “with final policymaking authority” and any action 

taken by those officials are attributable to the governmental entity. Sudul v. City of 

Hamtramck, 221 Mich. App. 455, 498 (1997); Feliciano v. City of Cleveland, 988 F.2d 

649, 656 (6th Cir. 1993). 

167. Simply put, an “[o]fficial policy involves a deliberate choice to follow a [particular] 

course of action. . . made from among various alternatives by an official who has the 

final authority to establish governmental policy.” Zumbroegel v. City of Dearborn 

Heights, 705 F. Supp. 358, 361 (E.D. Mich 1989) (quotations and citations omitted). 

168. “To be sure, ‘official policy’ often refers to formal rules or understandings—often 

but not always committed to writing—that are intended to, and do, establish fixed plans 

of action to be followed under similar circumstances consistently and over time.” 
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Pembaur v. City of Cincinnati, 475 U.S. 469, 480-481 (1986). However, “a government 

frequently chooses a course of action tailored to a particular situation and not intended 

to control decisions in later situations. If the decision to adopt that particular course of 

action is properly made by that government’s authorized decisionmakers, it surely 

represents an act of official government ‘policy’ as the term is commonly understood. 

More importantly, when action is directed by those who establish governmental policy, 

the municipality is equally responsible whether that action is to be taken only once or 

to be taken repeatedly. To deny compensation to the victim would therefore be contrary 

to the fundament purpose of §1983” Id. 

169. As held by the Sixth Circuit, a municipal defendant can be found liable in a federal 

civil rights action if plaintiffs “can establish that officially executed policy, or toleration 

of custom, leads to, causes, or results in deprivation of constitutionally protected right.” 

Doe v. Claiborne Cty., Tenn. By & through Clairborn Cty. Bd. Of Educ, 103 F.3d 495 

(6th Cir. 1996) (emphasis added). 

170. “Where, as here, a claim of municipal liability is predicated upon a failure to act, the 

requisite degree of fault must be shown by proof of background of events and 

circumstances which establish that the ‘policy of inaction’ is the functional equivalent 

of a decision by the city itself to violate the Constitution.” City of Canton, Ohio v. 

Harris, 489 U.S. 378, 394-95 (1989). 

171. “Where a §1983 plaintiff can establish that the facts available to city policymakers 

put them on actual or constructive notice that the particular omission is substantially 
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certain to result in the violation of the constitutional rights of their citizens,” a policy of 

inaction can be established. Id. at 396. “Only then can it be said that the municipality 

has made a deliberate choice to follow a course of [an] action [of inaction]…” Id. 

172. Defendant City has a longstanding policy, custom and/or formal rules or 

understandings that are intended to, and which do, establish fixed plans to alter the 

zoning of real property within its City boundaries so as to unconstitutionally alter real 

property rights without due process, notice, opportunity for protest and/or just 

compensation (hereinafter referred to the “Policy or Custom”). 

173. Among other things, this Policy or Custom, includes actions, or intentional lack 

thereof, by Defendant City, by and through its Mayor, City Attorney, City Counsel, 

Building Department and other City Officials whereby among other things, Defendant 

City intentionally fails comply with the MZEA by adopting an indefinite interim zoning 

ordinance in violation of Michigan law, through a resolution by an through its City 

Council that has the practical effect of altering property rights, such as pre-existing 

nonconforming uses, which have adversely affected properties in the City such as the 

Commercial Property owned by Plaintiff Owners, without due process, notice, 

opportunity for protest and/or just compensation. 

174. Defendant City’s Policy or Custom involves a deliberate choice to follow a particular 

course of action whereby Defendant City, rather than going through the proper process 

to enact a zoning ordinance with due process through notice, opportunity for protest 

and/or just compensation for the altering of prior existing nonconforming uses, 
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Defendant City, by and through its Mayor, City Attorney, City Counsel, Building 

Department and other City Officials imposes a vague and ambiguous moratoria through 

resolution in violation of the MZEA. 

175. Defendant City was put on notice of its unlawful actions and failed to take corrective 

action and instead reiterated its position that Plaintiffs would no longer be able to use 

the Commercial Property with its longstanding Legally Vested Property Right as an 

auto repair shop. 

176. Based on the totality of circumstances, Defendant City’s Policy or Custom and its 

intent thereof, is based not only on Defendant City’s actions but also its inaction. 

177. The City's Unlawful Conduct, or lack thereof, in denying Plaintiffs’ C of O 

application and their continued refusal to exercise their constitutionally protected right 

to use the Commercial Property consistent with its Legally Vested Property Right as an 

auto repair shop by and through the enforcement of an improperly enacted Moratorium 

are arbitrary, capricious, and lacking any rational relationship to a legitimate 

governmental interest and have effectively deprived Plaintiff of all economically viable 

use of the Commercial Property for its historical and legally protected purpose. 

178. As a result of Defendant City’s Policy or Custom, others like Plaintiffs have been 

deprived of their constitutionally protected right to use their real property consistent 

with their legally vested property right. 

179. This Policy or Custom constitutes condemnation or a taking without just 

compensation. 
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180. The City's actions have deprived Plaintiff of his constitutionally protected property 

interests without substantive due process of law. 

181. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant City's Unlawful Conduct and 

unconstitutional actions, Plaintiffs has suffered and continues to suffer substantial 

damages including, but not limited to:  

a. Economic damages attributable to Plaintiff Owners in the form of lost rental 

income at the rate of $3,000 per month, which is estimated to date to be Twelve 

Thousand ($12,000.00 Dollars), which economic damages continue to increase 

every day; 

 

b. Economic damages attributable to Plaintiff Owners in the form payment of taxes 

and property maintenance, which is estimated to date to be One Thousand Two 

Hundred ($1,200.00) Dollars, which economic damages continue to increase 

every day; 

 

c. Diminution of the Commercial Property’s value attributable to Plaintiff Owners; 

 

d. Interference with a valid lease agreement between Plaintiffs 

 

e. Economic damages attributable to Plaintiff Omari in the form of lost wages and 

lost profits estimated to date to be Forty-Four Thousand ($44,000.00) Dollars, 

which economic damages continue to increase every day; and  

 

f. Unnecessary expenditure of costs and attorney fees attributable to Plaintiffs in 

excess of Thirty Thousand ($30,000.00) Dollars, which continue to increase 

which economic damages continue to increase every day. 

 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request this Honorable Court to enter a 

judgment against Defendants, jointly and severally, in the amount consistent with the 

damages sustained, declaratory and injunctive relief, plus costs and attorneys’ fees 

wrongfully incurred to bring this action, in addition to any other damages, including 

punitive damages as provided by the applicable law. 
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COUNT IV  

VIOLATION OF EQUAL PROTECTION (42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

 

182. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations in all preceding 

paragraphs of this Complaint. 

183. “The Equal Protection Clause prohibits discrimination by government which either 

burdens a fundamental right, targets a suspect class, or intentionally treats one 

differently than others similarly situated without any rational basis for the difference.” 

TriHealth, Inc. v. Bd of Comm’rs, Hamilton Cnty., Ohio, 430 F.3d 783, 788(6th Cir. 

2005)).  

184. As stated by the Supreme Court, 

“we explained long ago, the Fourteenth Amendment requires that 

all persons subjected to…legislation shall be treated alike, under 

like circumstances and conditions, both in the privileges 

conferred and in the liabilities imposed. When those who appear 

similarly situated are nevertheless treated differently, the Equal 

Protection Clause requires at least a rational reason for the 

difference, to ensure that all persons subject to legislation or 

regulation are indeed being treated alike, under like 

circumstances and conditions. Thus, when it appears that an 

individual is being singled out by the government, the specter of 

arbitrary classification is fairly raised, and the Equal Protection 

Clause requires a rational basis for the difference in treatment.”  

 

Engquist v. Oregon Dep’t of Agr., 553 U.S. 591, 602 (2008) (citations and 

quotations omitted). 

 

185. In determining whether individuals are “similarly situated,” a court should “not 

demand exact correlation, but should instead seek relevant similarity.” Perry v. 

McGinnis, 209 F.3d 597, 601 (6th Cir. 2000); see also Bench Billboard v. City of 
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Cincinnati, 675 F.3d 974, 987 (6th Cir. 2012).  

186. Determining whether individuals are similarly situated is generally a factual issue 

for the jury unless “it is clear that no reasonable jury could find that the similarly situated 

requirement has been met.” Ryan v. City of Detroit, 174 F. Supp. 3d 964, 976 (E.D. 

Mich 2016); See also Loesel v. City of Frankenmuth, 692 F.3d 452, 463 (6th Cir.2012). 

187. “Materiality cannot be evaluated in a vacuum. Inevitably, the degree to which others 

are viewed as similarly situated depends substantially on the facts and context of the 

case.”  Loesel at 463.  

188. “Whether the complaint alleges a class of one or of five is of no consequence because 

we conclude the number of individuals in a class is immaterial for equal protection 

analysis.” Vill. Of Willowbrook v. Olech, 528 U.S. 562, 564 (2000). This is because it 

is undisputed “that the Equal Protection Clause protects persons, not groups.” Engquist, 

at 610. 

189. Plaintiffs must demonstrate that “the differential treatment [they] were subjected to 

is so unrelated to the achievement of any combination of legitimate purposes that the” 

only conclusion to be made is that the Government’s actions “were irrational.” 

TriHealth, Inc. at 788; see also Rondigo, LLC v. Twp of Richmond, 641 F.3d 673, 681-

82 (6th Cir. 2011). 

190. To sustain an equal protection, claim brought by a class-of-one, Plaintiffs must show 

that they: (1) “[have] been intentionally treated differently from others similarly 

situated;” and (2) “that there is no rational basis for the difference in treatment.” Olech 
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at 528 U.S. at 564. 

191. The City has treated Plaintiffs differently from other similarly situated property 

owners by:  

a. Approving similar auto repair businesses during the moratorium period; 

 

b. Specifically approving a comparable business at 19125 Dix Road; and 

 

c. Allowing approximately thirty-two other auto-related facilities to operate 

within its jurisdiction. 

 

192. Defendant City has discriminated against Plaintiffs by burdening Plaintiff Owners’ 

fundamental right to use the Commercial Property consistent with its long term Legally 

Vested Property Right as an auto repair shop. 

193. The City's Unlawful Conduct, or lack thereof, in denying Plaintiffs’ C of O 

application and their continued refusal to exercise their constitutionally protected right 

to use the Commercial Property consistent with its Legally Vested Property Right as an 

auto repair shop, while at the same time  by and through the enforcement of an 

improperly enacted Moratorium, while at the same time allowing Defendant Dix Auto 

Clinic to use the 19125 Dix property, is arbitrary and capricious and demonstrates 

selective and discriminatory enforcement of its zoning ordinances and the Moratorium, 

without any rational basis for the difference. 

194. Plaintiff Owners’ Commercial Property and 19125 Dix property are similarly 

situated, or at the very least maintain relevant similarity, in that both properties are 

zoned for C-2 General Commercial Use. 
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195. However, the 19125 Dix property did not historically maintain a continuous legally 

vested property right as an auto repair shop as prior to Defendant Dix Auto Clinic’s use 

of the property as an auto repair shop, it sat vacant for a minimum of 6 months, but 

more likely upwards of approximately 3 years. 

196. Plaintiff Omari and Plaintiff Dix Auto Clinic are also both similarly situated, or at 

the very least maintain relevant similarity, in that both sought to operate an auto repair 

shop within Defendant City. 

197. Defendant City’s selective and discriminatory enforcement of its zoning ordinances 

and the Moratorium against Plaintiffs, and in favor or Defendant Dix Auto Clinic, based 

solely on its reliance in an indefinite interim zoning ordinance adopted in violation of 

Michigan law is so unrelated to the achievement of any combination of legitimate 

purposes that the only conclusion to be made is that Defendant City’s  conduct is 

irrational. 

198. The City's actions violate the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment 

to the United States Constitution. 

199. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ Unlawful Conduct and 

unconstitutional actions, Plaintiffs have suffered and continue incur substantial 

damages including, but not limited to: 

a. Economic damages in favor of Plaintiff Owners in the form of lost rental 

income at the rate of $3,000 per month, which is estimated to date to be 

Twelve Thousand ($12,000.00 Dollars), which economic damages 

continue to increase every day; 
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b. Economic damages in favor of Plaintiff Owners in the form payment of 

taxes and property maintenance, which is estimated to date to be One 

Thousand Two Hundred ($1,200.00) Dollars, which economic damages 

continue to increase every day; 

 

c. Economic damages in favor of Plaintiff Owners for the diminution of the 

Commercial Property’s value; 

 

d. Economic damages in favor of Plaintiff Owners and Plaintiff Omari for 

interference with a valid lease agreement between Plaintiffs 

 

e. Economic damages in favor of Plaintiff Omari in the form of lost wages 

and lost profits estimated to date to be Forty-Four Thousand ($44,000.00) 

Dollars, which economic damages continue to increase every day; and  

 

f. Unnecessary expenditure of costs and attorney fees attributable to 

Plaintiffs in excess of Thirty Thousand ($30,000.00) Dollars, which 

continue to increase which economic damages continue to increase every 

day. 

 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request this Honorable Court to enter the 

relief requested above or in the alternative enter a judgment against Defendants, jointly and 

severally, in the amount consistent with the damages sustained, declaratory and injunctive 

relief, plus costs and attorneys’ fees wrongfully incurred to bring this action, in addition to 

any other damages, including punitive damages as provided by the applicable law. 

COUNT V 

CONSPIRACY IN VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. § 1985   

 

200. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations in all 

preceding paragraphs of this Complaint. 

201. As stated above Defendants’ Plan was devised and calculated whereby, they 

mutually agreed, among other things, that:  
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a. Dix Auto Clinic Lease would end its lease as scheduled on December 31, 

2024;  

 

b. Dix Auto Clinic would then continue renting the Commercial Property on a 

month to month basis for an additional 6 months;  

 

c. During this 6 month period, Defendant Dix Auto Clinic would move its 

operations to the 19125 Dix property, while phasing out performance of auto 

repairs at the Commercial Property; 

 

d. Defendant City would not grant Plaintiff Owners or any prospective tenant a 

C of O to use the Commercial Property pursuant to its Legally Vested Property 

Right as an auto repair shop; 

 

e. Defendant City would not provide or delay providing any information to 

Plaintiffs as it pertained to Defendant City’s approval of Defendant Dix Auto 

Clinic’s use of 19125 Dix property as an auto repair shop; 

 

f. Defendant City would not provide or delay providing any historical or 

property records to Plaintiffs as it pertained to 19125 Dix; and 

 

g. Defendant City would not provide or delay providing any information to 

Plaintiffs about the legality of their actions in connection with the enactment 

of zoning ordinances or the Moratorium. 

 

202. Upon information and belief, the intent of Defendants’ Plan was to allow 

Defendant City to arbitrarily and capriciously claim that Plaintiff Owners’ 

Legally Vested Property Right in the Commercial Property expired under the 

language of Code Section 24-503, which is Defendant City’s Ordinance on 

Nonconforming Uses of Structures. 

203. As stated above, Defendants followed the plan to completion and did so 

with the intent to deprive Plaintiffs of their constitutionally and statutory 

protected rights.  
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204. Defendants all shared the general conspiratorial objective of denying 

Plaintiffs their constitutionally and statutory protected rights, including but not 

limited to the right to use the Commercial Property with its longstanding Legally 

Vested Property Right as an auto repair shop. 

205. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ Unlawful Conduct and 

unconstitutional actions, Plaintiffs have suffered and continue incur substantial 

damages including, but not limited to: 

a. Economic damages in favor of Plaintiff Owners in the form of lost rental 

income at the rate of $3,000 per month, which is estimated to date to be 

Twelve Thousand ($12,000.00 Dollars), which economic damages 

continue to increase every day; 

 

b. Economic damages in favor of Plaintiff Owners in the form payment of 

taxes and property maintenance, which is estimated to date to be One 

Thousand Two Hundred ($1,200.00) Dollars, which economic damages 

continue to increase every day; 

 

c. Economic damages in favor of Plaintiff Owners for the diminution of the 

Commercial Property’s value; 

 

d. Economic damages in favor of Plaintiff Owners and Plaintiff Omari for 

interference with a valid lease agreement between Plaintiffs 

 

e. Economic damages in favor of Plaintiff Omari in the form of lost wages 

and lost profits estimated to date to be Forty-Four Thousand ($44,000.00) 

Dollars, which economic damages continue to increase every day; and  

 

f. Unnecessary expenditure of costs and attorney fees attributable to 

Plaintiffs in excess of Thirty Thousand ($30,000.00) Dollars, which 

continue to increase which economic damages continue to increase every 

day. 

 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request this Honorable Court to enter the 
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relief requested above or in the alternative enter a judgment against Defendants, jointly 

and severally, in the amount consistent with the damages sustained, declaratory and 

injunctive relief, plus costs and attorneys’ fees wrongfully incurred to bring this action, in 

addition to any other damages, including punitive damages as provided by the applicable 

law. 

COUNT VI 

DECLARATORY JUDGMENT 

 

206. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations in all preceding 

paragraphs of this Complaint. 

207. There exists an actual, present, justiciable controversy between Plaintiffs and 

Defendants regarding the enforceability of the City’s Moratorium on auto repair shops 

and the legality of the City’s denial of Plaintiffs’ C of O. 

208. Plaintiffs maintain that the Commercial Property enjoys a Legally Vested Property 

Right as a lawful nonconforming use as an auto repair facility under Melvindale Code 

§ 24-503 and MCL 125.3208, entitling Plaintiffs to continue that use. 

209. This Court has authority under 28 U.S.C. § 2201(a) and Mich. Ct. R. 2.605(A)(1) to 

declare the rights and legal relations of parties in an actual controversy. 

210. A declaration is necessary and useful here because monetary damages alone cannot 

(a) clarify Plaintiffs’ Legally Vested Property Rights, (b) determine the validity of the 

City’s Moratorium, or (c) prevent future interference with Plaintiffs’ operations. A 

judicial declaration will conclusively settle those issues and avert repeated litigation. 
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211. As detailed above, Michigan law explicitly protects nonconforming uses: MCL 

125.3208(1) guarantees that a use lawful at the time of a zoning ordinance’s enactment 

“may be continued” despite the ordinance. 

212. It is undisputed that the Commercial Property was lawfully used as an auto repair 

shop for decades, making it a protected nonconforming use. 

213. Plaintiff Owners never abandoned this use, and at most, there was a brief, 

unintentional gap between tenants during which a new lease was signed almost 

immediately after the prior tenant’s departure. 

214. Under MCL 125.3208(1), a nonconforming use is lost only upon both (a) 

discontinuance of the use and (b) intent to abandon. Neither element is present here. 

Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ auto repair business remains lawful, and the City is obligated 

to allow its continued operation. See Rudnik v. Mayers, 387 Mich. 379 (1972); See also 

Livonia Hotel, LLC v. City of Livonia, 259 Mich. App. 116 (2003).  

215. Defendant City nevertheless refused to recognize the nonconforming status and 

denied Plaintiffs C of O while enforcing a Moratorium enacted without statutory 

authority. Upon information and belief, and, on or around the same time, Defendant 

City approved a Certificate of Occupancy for Defendant Dix Auto Clinic and Defendant 

Abbas Khalil Aoun to operate another auto repair shop at 19125 Dix Road—illustrating 

the City’s selective enforcement and further clouding Plaintiffs’ rights. 

216. That Moratorium was first adopted in June 2020 and extended in January 2023. It 

has now remained in force for nearly five years, far exceeding the one-year limit (with 
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up to two years of renewal) permitted under MCL 125.3404(4), and underscoring its 

illegality as applied to Plaintiffs. 

217. Accordingly, and based on the statutory and constitutional violations set forth above, 

Plaintiffs are entitled to declaratory relief under 28 U.S.C. § 2201, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, 

42 U.S.C. § 1983, the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act (MCL 125.3101 et seq.), and the 

general equitable powers of this Court, declaring that Defendants unlawfully denied 

Plaintiffs the right to operate the Commercial Property as a lawful nonconforming auto 

repair use, and that the City’s Moratorium and permit denial are invalid and 

unenforceable. 

218. Plaintiffs therefore have a strong likelihood of success on the merits and are entitled 

to a declaration that (a) the auto repair use is lawful, (b) the City’s Moratorium 

resolution is void and unenforceable as applied to the Commercial Property, and (c) 

Defendants must issue all necessary permits, including a Certificate of Occupancy, that 

are otherwise code-compliant. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs request a Declaratory Judgment that (i) the Commercial 

Property’s auto repair use is a lawful prior nonconforming use under MCL 125.3208 and 

Melvindale Code § 24-503; (ii) the City’s 2023 moratorium and its C of O denial are void 

as applied to the Commercial Property; (iii) Plaintiffs may continue that use and the City 

must issue all necessary permits, including a C of O, subject only to neutral health-and-

safety codes; and (iv) Plaintiffs may recover costs and attorney’s fees under 42 U.S.C. § 

1988, plus any further relief the Court deems just. 

Case 2:25-cv-11970-MAG-EAS   ECF No. 1, PageID.56   Filed 06/30/25   Page 56 of 60



    
 

06.30.25 Plaintiffs’ Complaint, p. 57  

COUNT VII  

INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

 

219. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations in all preceding 

paragraphs of this Complaint. 

220. Plaintiffs seek both preliminary and permanent injunctive relief pursuant to Rule 65 

of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and 42 U.S.C. § 1983, as well as this Court’s 

inherent equitable powers, to enjoin the City’s unlawful enforcement of the Moratorium 

and interference with Plaintiffs’ Legally Vested Property Right. 

221. Plaintiffs will suffer immediate and irreparable harm for which there is no adequate 

remedy at law if Defendants are not enjoined: 

a. Since May 1, 2025, when Plaintiffs’ new five-year lease began at $3,000 per 

month, the Commercial Property remains vacant solely because the City 

refuses to issue a C of O, causing Plaintiff Owners to lose substantial rental 

income while continuing to incur property taxes, insurance, and maintenance 

expenses, and exposing the Commercial Property to increased risk of 

vandalism and deterioration. 

 

b. Beyond these financial losses, Plaintiffs are being deprived of their 

constitutional property rights, an injury that monetary damages cannot fully 

remedy. 

 

222. Plaintiffs have a strong likelihood of success on the merits: 

a. The Moratorium was adopted by Resolution 20-06-131 in June 2020 and 

extended by Resolution 23-01-011 in January 2023, remaining in effect nearly 

five years, far beyond the limited term permitted by MCL 125.3404(4); 

 

b. Michigan’s legislative-equivalency doctrine bars a municipality from 

amending or suspending its zoning ordinance by resolution, 
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c. The Commercial Property’s nonconforming use spans more than four decades 

with no abandonment; the gap between tenants in April 2025 lasted only days 

and 

 

d. During the same period, the City issued a C of O to another auto repair shop 

at 19125 Dix Road, confirming selective and arbitrary enforcement. 

 

223. Accordingly, Plaintiffs request that this Court issue both preliminary and permanent 

injunctive relief as follows: 

a. Enjoining the City, and its officers, agents, employees, and those acting in 

concert with them, from enforcing Resolutions 20-06-131 and 23-01-011 

against Plaintiffs or their Commercial Property; 

 

b. Requiring the City to immediately issue a C of O recognizing Plaintiffs’ 

continued nonconforming use of the Commercial Property as an auto repair 

shop; 

 

c. Prohibiting the City from interfering with Plaintiffs’ Legally Vested Property 

Right under Melvindale Code § 24-503 and MCL 125.3208; and 

 

d. Granting such further equitable or injunctive relief as the Court deems just 

and proper to prevent continuing irreparable harm. 

 

224. Without injunctive relief, Plaintiffs will continue to suffer irreparable harm, 

including but not limited to: ongoing deprivation of their vested right to use the 

Commercial Property as a lawful nonconforming auto-repair facility; substantial and 

accumulating losses of rental income; diminution in the value of the Commercial 

Property; disruption of valid leasehold interests; lost business opportunities; and 

continued violations of their constitutional and statutory protections. Accordingly, 

and based on the statutory and constitutional violations set forth above, Plaintiffs are 

entitled to injunctive relief under Rule 65 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, 

Case 2:25-cv-11970-MAG-EAS   ECF No. 1, PageID.58   Filed 06/30/25   Page 58 of 60



    
 

06.30.25 Plaintiffs’ Complaint, p. 59  

28 U.S.C. § 1331, 42 U.S.C. § 1983, the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act (MCL 

125.3101 et seq.), and the general equitable powers of this Court. Plaintiffs seek to 

restrain Defendants’ unlawful enforcement of the Moratorium and to compel the 

City to recognize Plaintiffs’ Legally Vested Property Right to continued use of the 

Commercial Property, as guaranteed by state and federal law. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter 

preliminary and permanent injunctive relief enjoining the Defendant City from 

enforcing Resolutions 20-06-131 and 23-01-011 against Plaintiffs or their Commercial 

Property, require the City to issue a C of O and any necessary permits recognizing 

Plaintiffs’ Legally Vested Property Right to operate the Commercial Property as an auto 

repair shop, prohibit further interference with Plaintiffs’ Legally Vested Property Right 

under Melvindale Code § 24-503 and MCL 125.3208, and award Plaintiffs their costs, 

attorney’s fees under 42 U.S.C. § 1988, and such other relief as the Court deems just 

and proper. 
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                             Respectfully Submitted, 

 

                                          /s/ Muneeb M. Ahmad                  

 

AHMAD & AKBAR LAW, PLLC 

Muneeb M. Ahmad (P70391) 

Syed Hussain Akbar (P67967) 

Attorneys for Defendant  

811 North Main Street, Suite 301 

Royal Oak, MI 48067 

T. (248) 519-2313 

F. (248) 519-2399 

Muneeb@ahmadandakbar.com 

Hussain@ahmadandakbar.com 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN SOUTHERN DIVISION 

 

 

ABDULWAHAB ELSHAMI, 

An Individual, and 

SHAIF MAHYOUB ALZAOKARI, 

An Individual 

DHAIFALLAH ALI ALOWMARI,  

An Individual d/b/a OMARI AUTO SHOP 

Plaintiffs,

   

vs.        

  

CITY OF MELVINDALE, 

A Michigan Municipal Corporation, 

DIX AUTO CLINIC, LLC 

A Michigan Limited Liability Company; and 

ABBAS KHALIL AOUN 

An Individual 

Defendant. 

___________________________________________________________________ 

 

MUNEEB M. AHMAD (P70391)  

SYED HUSSAIN AKBAR (P67967) 

AHMAD & AKBAR LAW, PLLC 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs  

811 N. Main Street, Suite 106 

Royal Oak, MI 48067-1825 

Tel. (248) 519-2313  

Fax: (248) 519-2399 

__________________________________________________________________ 

 

INDEX OF EXHIBITS FOR PLAINTIFFS’ COMPLAINT 

__________________________________________________________________ 

 

Case No: 

Honorable: 

Magistrate: 

RECORDS PRESERVATION 

NOTICE 

You, Defendants, are hereby 

notified to preserve during the 

pendency of this action all records 

and documents in all forms and 

formats (digital, electronic, film, 

magnetic, optical, print, etc.) that 

are relevant or may lead to 

relevant information, and to 

notify your employees, agents and 

contractors that they are required 

to take appropriate action to do 

the same. 
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Ex. 1 – Sec 24-503 Non-Confirming Use Ordinance 

Ex. 2 – Property History 

Ex. 3 – Dix Auto Clinic Lease 

Ex. 4 – June 17, 2020 City Council Meeting Resolution 

Ex. 5 – August 19, 2020 Moratorium Resolution 20-08-101 

Ex. 6 – Master Plan PDF & Council Resolution 

Ex. 7 – January 18, 2023, City Council Meeting Resolution 23-01-011 

Ex. 8 – April 10, 2025 Email to L. Coogan 

Ex. 9 – April 16, 2025 FOIA Request 

Ex. 10 – 2025 Omari Lease 

Ex. 11 – April 18, 2025, Letter to L. Coogan 

Ex. 12 – April 24, 2025, Denial Letter 

Ex. 13 – April 25, 2025 City FOIA Response Letter 

Ex. 14 – April 30, 2025 L. Coogan Response Letter 

Ex. 15 – May 2, 2025 Letter to City Council 

Ex. 16 – May 15, 2025 Letter to City 
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ABDULWAHAB ELSHAMI, et al 

vs. 

CITY OF MELVINDALE, et al. 

 

COMPLAINT EXHIBIT 1 
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ABDULWAHAB ELSHAMI, et al 

vs. 

CITY OF MELVINDALE, et al. 

 

 

COMPLAINT EXHIBIT 2 
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ABDULWAHAB ELSHAMI, et al 

vs. 

CITY OF MELVINDALE, et al. 

 

 

COMPLAINT EXHIBIT 3 
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LEASE AGREEMENT 

THIS LEASE AGREEMENT (hereinafter referred to as "Lease"), is dated on January 1, 
2020 by and between Abdulwahab Elshami, whose mailing address is  1251 Femey, Dearborn, MI 
48120 (the "Landlord") and, Dix Auto Clinic, LLC by: Abbas Khalil Aoun, DOB 01-20-1990, 
Michigan ID# A 500 029 468 055, whose address is 18809 Dix Road, Melvindale, MI 48122 
("Tenant"). 

1. Lease of Premises. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Lease, Landlord 
hereby leases to Tenant, and Tenant hereby leases from Landlord, the premises situated in the City of 
Melvindale, County of Wayne, State of Michigan, commonly known as 18809 DIX RD, MEL VIND 
ALE, MI 48122. (the "Property"). 

2. Term. There shall be one term under this lease with the initial term being Five Years 
beginning on the January 1, 2020 and shall expire at midnight on December 31, 2024 (the "Term"). 
After commencement of the term, Tenant will take all reasonable measures to transfer all licenses, 
permits, and any other trade related matters into his name for operation of the business. 

3. Use. Tenant shall use and occupy the Property for the primary purpose of conducting 
business of an auto repair shop. If it is found Tenant is using any or part of the premises for any 
illegal venture, Tenant shall be evicted immediately and shall be personally liable for any and all 
damages caused as a result of Tenant's actions. 

4. Rent. Tenant agrees to pay the Landlord, as rental for the Property during the Term, 
Gross Base Rent and Additional Rent as follows: 

(a) Gross Base Rent. Tenant agrees to pay to Landlord as Base Rent payable at a
monthly rate as follows:
a. $2,100.00 monthly starting January 1, 2020.
b. $2,200.00 monthly starting January 1, 2021.
c. $ 2,300.00 monthly starting January 1, 2022.
d. $ 2,400.00 monthly starting January 1, 2023.
e. $ 2,500.00 monthly starting January 1, 2024.

Said rent shall be paid no later than the fifth day of every month beginning January 1, 2020. 
Any rent paid after the 5th of any month shall be assessed a $ 20.00 a day late fee. 

(b) Additional Rent; Obligation to Pay.
(i) All money and charges payable by Tenant pursuant to the terms of this Lease,

other than Base Rent, are hereby designated "Additional Rent" to be paid in consideration of the 
demise represented by this Lease. Where no due date is set forth, such charges shall be due upon 
demand. 

(ii) Tenant's obligation to pay Base Rent and Additional Rent shall survive any
termination or expiration of this Lease. 

Initials fl . £ f l) , /1 
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CITY OF MELVINDALE, et al. 

 

 

COMPLAINT EXHIBIT 4 

Case 2:25-cv-11970-MAG-EAS   ECF No. 1-5, PageID.80   Filed 06/30/25   Page 1 of 7



Case 2:25-cv-11970-MAG-EAS   ECF No. 1-5, PageID.81   Filed 06/30/25   Page 2 of 7



Case 2:25-cv-11970-MAG-EAS   ECF No. 1-5, PageID.82   Filed 06/30/25   Page 3 of 7



Case 2:25-cv-11970-MAG-EAS   ECF No. 1-5, PageID.83   Filed 06/30/25   Page 4 of 7



Case 2:25-cv-11970-MAG-EAS   ECF No. 1-5, PageID.84   Filed 06/30/25   Page 5 of 7



Case 2:25-cv-11970-MAG-EAS   ECF No. 1-5, PageID.85   Filed 06/30/25   Page 6 of 7



Case 2:25-cv-11970-MAG-EAS   ECF No. 1-5, PageID.86   Filed 06/30/25   Page 7 of 7



ABDULWAHAB ELSHAMI, et al 

vs. 

CITY OF MELVINDALE, et al. 

 

 

COMPLAINT EXHIBIT 5 

Case 2:25-cv-11970-MAG-EAS   ECF No. 1-6, PageID.87   Filed 06/30/25   Page 1 of 3



Case 2:25-cv-11970-MAG-EAS   ECF No. 1-6, PageID.88   Filed 06/30/25   Page 2 of 3



Case 2:25-cv-11970-MAG-EAS   ECF No. 1-6, PageID.89   Filed 06/30/25   Page 3 of 3



ABDULWAHAB ELSHAMI, et al 
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City of Melvindale 
3100 Oakwood Boulevard, Melvindale, MI 48122 

(313) 429-1040   fax 313-383-3993 
 

Regular Meeting of the Melvindale City Council on Wednesday, November 17, 2021 
at 7:30 p.m. 
 
Presiding: Mayor Pro Tem Joseph Jackson  
Present Council Members: Jackson, Frederick, Densmore, Cartrette 
 
21-11-253 Moved by Cartrette and supported by Jackson, to adopt the City of Melvindale 
Master plan as approved by the Planning Commission resolution PC#21-37.  
 
Passed Unanimously 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
        __________________________ 
        Linda Land, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
Dated: November 25, 2021   
 
 
 
Cc:  Richard S. Ortiz, City Administrator/Finance Director 
  Planning Commission 
  EDC Commission 
  Master Plan file 
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Adopted: November 17, 2021

2021 MASTER PLAN 
CITY OF MELVINDALE 
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1. INTRODUCTION
A master plan is the official document used to guide the future growth and development of a 
community. The master plan should serve as a roadmap and foundation for future decision making, 
as well as the official policy guide for physical development. This master plan is intended to be a 
usable reference document, easily readable and accessible to all residents.  

The intent of the  City of Melvindale  Master Plan  is to :  

- Unify the community behind a common vision and set of goals and policies. 
- Address the desires and needs of the residents, businesses, and property owners to preserve

and enhance relevant qualities of the community and natural aesthetics.
- Provide a land use pattern which will result in a sustainable community with a diversified tax

base and to support the desired facilities and services with reasonable tax rates.
- Present an urban framework and future land use map that illustrates how the city desires

future  development, redevelopment, and other land -based changes to occur.
- Ensure that the city remains a highly desirable community in which to live, work, and visit.
- Provide a legal basis for zoning and other regulations for the type, intensity, and timing of 

development.
- Address the status and needs of infrastructure, recreational amenities, and public services.

The master plan is intended to take a long -term view of the community, guiding growth and 
development for the next 20 years and beyond, while providin g flexibility to respond to changing 
conditions, innovations, and new information. Thus, planning is a process that involves the conscious 
selection of policies relating to land use and development in a community. Through the process of 
land use planning, it is intended that a community can preserve, promote, protect, and improve the 
public health, safety, and general welfare.  By state law, the master plan must be reviewed every five 
years.  

The Michigan Planning Enabling Act (MPEA), Public Act 33 of 2008,  requires that the planning 
commission approve a master plan as a guide for development and review the plan at least once 
every five years after adoption. The master plan should serve as a roadmap and foundation for future 
decision making, as well as the official policy guide for community development.  

REDEVELOPMENT READY COMMUNITIES  
This master plan update implements the 
Michigan Economic Development Corporation 
(MEDC) Redevelopment Ready Communities 
best practices to create a strong vision for 
redevelopment in the City of Melvindale.  
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